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INTERVIEWEE: Arthur M. Schlesinger, Jr. 

INTERVIEWER: Joe B. Frantz 

November 4, 1971 

F: 	 This is an interview with Arthur 1\1. Schlesinger, Jr. in his office 

in New York City on November 4, 1971. The interviewer is Joe B. 

Frantz. Arthur, I suppose the place to pick this up with you would 

be in 1960. Had yoct any particular acquaintance with Johnson prior 

to that time? 

S: 	 I had known Johnson when he was Majority Leader, I'd known far better 

very close friends and supporters of his, esp2cially J[m Rowe and Phil 

Graham. At Jim Rowe's urging I'd seen Johnson two or three times, 

and I had one long talk wtth him in' 57, described in A T_h_o_usand_Days':' 

We had a perfectly affable acquaintance, thoctgh I am sure that Johnson 

regarded me with a certain detachment, as some kind of Eastern intel­

lectual associated with Adlai Stevenson, for whom he did not have a 

high regard. 

F: 	 Yeah. Did Jim Rowe or Phil Graham ever talk to you ab:>ut his Presi­

dential ambitions or their ambitions for him outside of wh1t you've 

already said? 

S: 	 Well, I remember Jim Rowe talking to me, I believe in 1959, when he 

had decided to sup;J'.>rt Humphrey, an:l saying that Johnson was his 

preferen~e but that Johnson h'ld made it clear to him that he was ncit a 

candidate. 

F: 	 In '59. 

':' A Thousand Da_ys , pp. 10- 11 
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S· Now I was never quite clear on th;i,t. Jim Rowe is a very honest man 

but Lyndon Johnson is a very complicated man. He might have said to 

Jim Rowe, 11 I'm not planning to do it, 11 and at the same time have said 

to himself th1t it would be highly useful to have Jim Rowe working for 

Humphrey in case the Humphrey thing collapsed. 

F: I p;cked up here and there the allegation that Joe Kennedy, Sr. had at 

one time suggested that Johnson woald make a goe>d leader with Kennedy 

running seco,:i.d on th~ ticket, and sought to bring his boy along to place 

them in line. Did you ever pick up anything like th1t? 

S: No, l 1 ve seen in President Johnson 1 s memoirs a recollection of a phone 

call from Joe Kennedy in 1955, to the effect that the Kennedys thought he 

ought to be President. I never heard either John Kennedy or Robert 

Kennedy say anythhg like this. John Kennedy on the other hand had a 

high regard for Lyndon Johnson and" certain 1ffection for him. 

F: I think the men understood each other as two pros. 

S: Kennedy, I think, not only had great regard for the power of Johnson's 

p·ersonality and his parliamentary skills but was also fascinated by 

him as an authen'.ic American personality. He used to speak of him as 

a "riverboa~ gambler." He had many misgivings about and differences 

with Johnson, but I thin'~ h·e retained considerable regard for him. 

This does not mean, though, that I think he wished him ever to be 

President or to succeed him as President. 

F: Going back to this team around Stevenson in' 59 and' 60, one of them 

was Walt Rostow and did Walt show any evidence in thCJse days of 

developing into what we've come to call a hard-liner? 
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S: You mean around Kennedy? 

F: Yes, \Veil, first I think, no, yoa1 re right. RostoV'.i-. It was after 

you'd left Stevenson and gone over to Kennedy. 

S: Well, Stevenson constantly told everyone p'iblicly and privately he was 

not a candidate. I had what later seemed misguided scruples about 

coming out for Kennedy so long as Hubert Hump'1rey was in the contest 

becaus"e of our long association with ADA. Ken Galbraith, who was 

much more trenchanc about it, was not stopped by this scruple. There­

fore, I did not come out for Kennedy until after West Virginia. 

F: In this 1 60 campaign I don't suppose there's anything really for you to 

add at Los Angeles that you haven't already told and that's a negative 

way of putting it. 

S: I can add here because~ did not say this in :0:_Thm1San9J2":Y.;i, that the 

account I give of the choice of Vice President was personally told to me 

by Robert Kennedy and I think that it's the authentic acco:rnt at least so 

far as Robert Kennedy is concerned. 

F: Were there any real feelings that the threatened revolt would be a real 

revolt? 

S: Well, there was for a moment. You know the chaos and fatigue in the 

last days of the convention. The important point is that the Kennedy 

brothers were astounded when Johnson accepted it, but then John Kennedy 

felt that as soon as Lyndon Jo~onson- -

F: It wasn't a token offering; it was a sincere offering? 
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S: Well, it was a sincere offering that no one suppe>sed would be accepted, 

Once he showed an interest tn it, John Kennedy felt an obligation to 

follow through on it and talked to Sam Rayburn and so on. As it developed 

and as the liberal revolt began to spread, Ro!:>ert Kennedy particularly 

thought that it was a great mistake. 

F: Well now Mr. Sam didn't think that he ought to take it? 

S: Originally, and then-­

F: And it's always been of some interest to me why he did, I can give you 

some explanations, but I mean they are-­

S: Well, I later talked to Rayburn about it. As I recall, he said that the 

notion of Nixon becoming President was intolerable to him, and he thought 

that if Jobnson could make the difference he should do it, Or perhaps 

Vice President Johnson told me that. In any case I think that I have 

really nothing new to add to the account in {'l__Ihousan_:l_Days except to 

explain the sources. 

F: Was there much worry in the Kennedy end of the camp during the cam­

paign about Johnson's campaigning style and tactics and the fact that h2 

might go off on his own sort of little -­

S: I don't recall any. I was not on the Kennedy campaign staff. I was off 

that 
speaking in other parts of the country, but I would say both then and later 

John Kennedy's feeling was that Lyndon Johnson was a loyal and scrupulous 

Vice President. 

F: He took the second violin. 
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S: I thiri< Johnson did this at great psychic cost for a man of his over ­

powering temperament; but he submitted himself to exacting self-dis­

cipline, which President Kennedy fully appreciated. 

F: Was this ever spelled out by President Kennedy or was it just tacit that 

this is sort of Vice Presidential behavior? 

S: No, I think Kennedy appreciated it. Thei·e was one curious episode at 

the start, which Dick Ne\C.;tadt can tell you about in more detail. Some 

effort was made on Johnson's behalf and with his consent to allocate to 

him through executive order a grant of powers. This astonished Kennedy 

and Johnson, once it was ignored, did not press. After th1t I think tha.t 

Johnson was a loyal and effacing Vice President. He never did leak to 

the press. He was obviously frustrated in all sorts of ways. 

F: As you know, there is criticism of him as Vice President in the early 

days on the charge that he wanted to continue as a sort of Senate Majority 

Leader. 

S: Wr:;;,, the Senate to~k care of that. 

F: Yes. 

S: I mean what he did offended the Senate. 

F: But the re's no problem to the Kennedy Administration. 

S: I don't think President Kennedy felt that it was necessary for him to 

overrule the Democrats in the s~,nate on this count. Also he was unwill­

ing to confide his legislative program to the Vice President, which LS 

quite right. Johnson \.vould never as Presid~nt h3.ve given veto power 

over his legislative program to the Vice President. Johnson sornewhat 

resented a.11 this, and (ie said to me, and l 1 m sure h·~ said it mu::h more 
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to a lo: of other people, that he didn't feel thctt his knowledge and ~o:-itacts 

on '.he Hill were being used. But Ken"iedy quite rightly wanted his own 

man to co:-itrol th.!_s; S·:::>meo~1·~ he cou.ld give ord·2rs to, Cl' Brien rather 

than Johnso~1 . .P_.s I recollect, when Jol1-:1'30n was frorn time to :ime 

called 'JP on the Hill, h,ce wasn't all that effective actually. 

F: His role had changed. 

S: The Vice President isn1 t that effective. There \\rere a lot of resentmen1:s. 

I mean a lot of peoi:,le had ·::>een pushed :iro11nd earlier were n-:::>t prepared 

necessarily to -­

F: Back to the campaign for a moment, did an1 of the Kennedy group talk 

to 101.i aboiJ.'.: -,Nha.t th1~y considered was Job':lson1 s particular co~tribation 

to the cam;oaign? 

S: Every campaign begins with the theory that th,2 Presiden~ and Vice 

Presidential candidacies sh-·uld be synchro'1ized. They never are. 

There 1 s no orch·2stration. 

F: Yo11 d.Jn1 t really have a good trafiic manager in there, do you.? 

S: No, thef have a sort of sch2d·_ile so that th,2y wo:1't be speaking at th•2 

same time on ~he sam•~ nigh~, and they have a sort of general agreement 

o: a broad sort on issues. Bu'.:: both :::andida.tes are pres :irnably in':elli­

gen: men, and wh•en th•e Vice Presidential candidate reads the President­

ial cand[datcs speeches, he kn::iws the lin8. I think it was felt that 

Johnson did ve:iywell in the campaign, and ~w·as en::irmously helpful. 

Ho'.,x,.'ever, I1 ve never believed the th·~ory that had Johnson not been on 

the ticket, Ke:1ned1 would not have won. I think that he would not have 

carried Texas without Jo:0<1son, but he could have lo 3 t Texas and still 
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won comfortably. But Johnson certainly helped. 

F: Did, as far as you know, did the President start sending Johnson on 

these foreign trips in a sense to give a norrnally hyperactive man some­

thing to do '.:Jr did he really feel that this was necessary and he couldn't 

devote the time to it himself? 

S: Well, I think it's some of both, I think the one case where h·e really 

felt tha'- it v.ras imtJortant for Johnson '::o go, \x.rhen he couldn1 t go, \Vas 

the trip to Ber:in in '61. Johnson was not very enth'Jsiastic abou_t going, 

and really great press~.ire had to ~e brought on him to go. That particu­

larly sticks in rny mind as an occasion where Kennedy felt that if he 

couldn't g::i, the Vice President had to go. 

F: Any particular reason why? 

S· There -was a great crisis, and he wanted to send the Vice President to 

show the American commitment to West Berlin. 

F: Was he satisf'ed with the result? 

S: Well, the whole trip was symbolic. Johnson didn't have to do anything 

except go there and be there, and as I said Johnson resisted going. 

F: Why do you think he resisted? 

S: I've n·eve r been dear why he resisted. 

F: Ne'd have to ask him, and he pro!:iably d::iesn't know. 

S: I'm sure he doesn't rem-ember it, but you ought to ask someone; he did 

resist going. The trip to Southeast Asia in '61 v.ias really, I thin·k, because 

the Vice Presidency, Joe, as you 'knov..r, is not a job, and vv·hen you have 

a man of great energy and restlessness -­ the two things that he had \x/ere 
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the spice agency and th,2 equal emp~o1menc thing, and neither of them 

fulfilled him -­ foreign travel was a grea• outlet. But th,2 Berlin thing 

was sornething which Kenn·2dy regard2d as absolutely essential. 

F: And ·:hen th,2re were all the jokes that mad,2 the cocktail parties and 

ma.de the press and so forth on Lynd:ico to an ,2ffect that he'd ·:ieen shuc,ted 

into hi.ding. Were these currency around the White House, or ws_s this 

something that was dreamed up 1fter ho'.lrs? 

S: Well, I understand that President Johnso,1 feels that there was a great 

feeling of disdain or exclusion on the part of th·2 Kennedy staff, tho11gh 

not on the part of President Kennedy, against him. I d~d not see this 

or feel it. Kenn,2dy himself was ver1 scrupulous in the first place to 

include Joh'1son i.n everything, and in the second place to prevent any 

kind :if belittling rema. rks. 

F: He hi.mself w-as n 1 ~ve r patro:iizing? 

S: He h~mself never \Vas. I mean he kne\N- tha.t they disagreed :::>:1 ~hings. 

He knew that Jo'.,nson disagreed on the P')licy toward Diem; Johnso:i 

was much ffi'.)re in favor of Diem. He -knew· tha.. t in the Cuban missile 

crisis 'ha.t Joh-ison was very glo:.nny ab:)IJ.t the policy that Kenned/ wisely 

adopted. He knew that Johnson was unhappf ab"ut the sale of wheat to 

the Soviet Union. But he respected Johnson's loyalty. He liked Johnson 

personally and would not ha.ve tolerated any criticism of Johnson. But 

you know Johnso:i ~wasn't the issue. Everyone ·was v,ror-king very hard 3.t 

things and with Joh'1so:i as Vice President we saw a lot of George Reedy 

wh" were fully liked and fully accepted ctnd worked with the Kennedy 
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staff. I think that Joh'.1So'1' s persecution feeling 0'1 tha.t was quite odd. 

F: Interv·iewer 1 s note: a sh0rt interruption for him to take a phone call. 

F: We \Vere talking, o: course, about the use of Johnson in the Johnson jol<e, 

or Johnson as a joke. 

S: This was simply not the case so far as my experience g:ies. Jol1nson 

was ignored o:ily as all Vice Presidents are ignored. Johnson himself 

became in·:reasingly subdued. When I mentioned the psychic cost of 

this self-effacemen~, I remember that by 1963, he wocild corn·e to meet­

ings and sit there silently and very gloomily and res;c o'1d only to direct 

q·J.estions. 

F: I was going to as'<: rn '.:hings like the NSC m·eetings, did he sort of have 

an equal voice with the other people that were therce to offer whatever 

advice they could, or did he tend to speak only when spoken to? 

S: Well, in meetings that I was in he spoke on the whole only when che 

President brought him in~o the thing. Then ~1.e wo,~ld spea·k mostly not 

to the substance of the thing but to the politics of it, and particularly 

th·2 question of congressional management. But I got the sense o~ an 

increasingly frustrated and glo·-=>my man, so his presence became almost 

spectral by 1963. On the other hand he was continu::msly loyal to th•' 

Presidc::n~. He probably would say he mad·2 some -kind of in!:crnal d·2cision 

tha..t he \Vas go1ng to !:>e loyal and self-effacing, b11t I hardly ever remem­

ber him speaking up in meetings on '.:he substance of po~icy. 

F: Was there a feeling at this time that he and Bobby weren't meant for 

each other? 
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S: In restroap•ect that condition existed. 

F: It wasn't anything yo:i had to tip~oe aro•Jnd? 

S: No, the chemistry \Vas wron.g. I thiri._1.c Johnson. n3ver forgave, at least 

he never forgot, th1t Robert Kennedy tried to p'.lll him out of th·e Vice 

Presidential thing. Th2y came into very sharp co'1£lict in '.he Cmnmittee 

for Equal Employmenc Op;>~rtunities. 

F: Well, there used to be a story I guess seco'1d or third hand, that was a 

certain jockeying between the two 'J£ them to see vlho ::::o:.ild gain the moat 

credit for getting on v,;ith the Civil Righ:s activities, was this noticeable 

or - ­

S· Well, I was o:ily aware of it at the time through Arthur Goldberg and Bill 

Wirtz. Th,~y can give yo'.l a more sp,2cific story. In essence, Johnso:i 

\~.ranted to 3.ttain .::;01nplian::::e as much as possible thro~.igh voluntary efforts. 

Robert Kenn·edy came increasingly to feel that this approach was no·o 

\~larking, and tha.~ Johnso ...'1 and a man named Ho~art Taylor, who1n Kem~dy 

regarded as a sort 0£ Un::::le Tom, v,rere misrepresenting or exaggerating 

the results of volun:ary compliance. This v:.rasn 1 t a personal thing, since 

the great advocate of the voluntary ap;>rciach was Bobby Troutman of 

Atlanta, who was a cloae friend of Rob·ert Kennedy's. But Robert 

Ken'1edy felt increasingly that the Cornmissio:i was ncit doing what it 

was supp:Jsed to do and it couldn't do it under this theory and th3-t 

Tro•itman and Taylor were not getting anywhere and that Johnson was 

wro::lg b')-::h in s·;_;_pporting them and then o-7erclaiming for the results. 

The issue was quite seriO'JS 3-nd substantive. Johnson was offended 
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by the 	intensity with which Ro!::iert Kennedy questioned th,e results of the 

voluntary approach. Goldberg and then Wirtz suppcirted Kennedy. It 

was no: a matter of co:npeting for p'-lblic credit, because the whole 

op•eration was practically unknown to th,e public. Ro!::ie rt Kennedy simply 

felt very strongly that bo:h for the sake of justice and for the record of 

th,e Administratio,o, this had to !::le a hell of a lot better than it was dolng, 

and that the methods which Johnson was advocating were inadequate to 

reach the result. 

F: 	 In yo'Jr seg'Jence oc crisis, like at Oxford and Arfl1urine Lucy at Alabama 

and so on, did Jo~-inso;:i p~xt in his t\~ro bi.ts -\A..-orth as a semi-Soc.ithern·er or 

did he 	pretty well let - ­

S· 	 I do no: remember him b,eing involved at all in the actual decisions and 

pcilicies on these things. I think that they were handled essentially rn 

the Departmen'. of Justice and th'lt, when :hey reach,ed a crisis pciint, 

President Kennedy and Ted Sorensen would be involved. In 1963 there 

was a general efforC thr01.Jgh i::he governmen~ to get businessmen in ~he 

South involved. McNamara and Dillon and Clark Clifford and so on 

made calls to ':iusiness leaders. I do not recall Johnson !::ieing bro•1ght 

in'.:o the actual decisions. On the other hand, a decisio;:i v.ras made in 

the summer of '63 to hold 1 series of meetings at the White Ho•ise with 

represen'.:ative gro•J.pa fro·m the business community, ministers, lav.ryers 

and so on. The s es s io'1s we re addressed by the President, the Attorney 

General, and th,e Vice President. Johnson was extremely effective at 
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thDse, and. a.t the one or two I attended, I thought more effective than 

the President or Attorney General. He spoke with a kind of evangelical 

force which I thin-':-c was very impressive to everyb:::>dy. But for 0xample, 

the Oxford, Mississipp'. thing, which was the one I was most in'.imately 

involved in, as far as I -kn:::rvi, Joh__nson "iJ..ras n·:>t involved. On the o:her 

hand Ken"ledy may have, perhaps, called him quietly for suggestions. 

F: What about his activities in h-eading up the space program for the Presiden:? 

S: Well theTe I just do~'t know. Jerry Wiesner and o'.her people would 

know. The impression I had that this was again sort of a nominal thing 

and that Jim Webb and Jerry Wiesner were mu:h more active in it, but 

I rzally can't -­

F: When we get down to th'lt fateful No,emb2r o'.' 1963, did Johnson ccnake a 

strong represen~atio!"l for Kennedy to go ~o Texas, since Texas is on,2 of 

the question mark states as 1964 approaches. Or was this pretty much"­

decision arrived at on pDlitical reality at the White House level? 

S: I just don't know the answer to that. My memory is that Kennedy was 

quite worried :::>ver the divisio!"ls in :he Dem:::>cratic Party in Texas and 

tho·.ight he ought to go dov.rn there for that reason. There is one comment 

I would make. The story is often printed that a Kennedy decisic\n had been 

made to dump Johnson in' 64 and that meetings were held to that end in 

!')o-,ember 1963. There were indeed White House meetings planning for 

the '64 campaign, and I don't think Johnson was at them. But so far as 

I know the story abocit dumping Johnson is absolutely untrue. Ro':Jert 

Kennedy, whom I asked aboett this, told me on a number of occasions 

that there was absolutely no intention of dumping Johnso:o in '64. 
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F: 	 Unfortunately, Rob2rt Kennedy was shot the week I started this project, 

He was absolutely unequivocal on the fact that this was n'.,.t considered. 

He said. I'm not personally one of Lyndo'1 Johnson's greatest admirers 

but we'd n·ever and did not consider this," 

F: 	 Do you have anything to ad:! to the assassination nightmare? 

S: 	 I was in New York. Ken Galbraith and I were lunching with the editors 

of Newsweek on that Friday. I think I was the first member of the 

Kennedy staff to resign. I felt strongly that the White House staff was 

a personal extension of the President and t'1at every President deserved 

his ov-rn p·eo;:>le, people whorn he felt comfortable with and whose absolute 

loyalty was to him. So I resign·ed the day after Dallas. He called me in 

and made on eloquen'. plea to the effect that he needed me more than 

Kenn·edy ha.d and so on, which I found rather impressive at the time. 

I later discovered that he said the same thing to everyb'.ldy else. I 

did agree to stay on for the transition. I might say that during the 

Vice Presidency I saw the Vice PrHsident from time to time and l liked 

him and p:irticularly liked Lady Bird, and on at least one occasio'1 I was 

at his 	ho1.ise for dinn·~r, and 0:1r relations seemed p•2rfectly amicab12 in 

that period. And I llked George Reedy and Walter Jen'<:ins. The Kennedy 

White Ho,ise staff may have ignored the Vice President, b•it they were 

n:>t disdainful and ·:here weren't jokes. 

F: 	 They j 1St had their own concerns. 

S: 	 Th·ey had their own concerns. Mac Bundy, I think, took the particular 


effort to remember the fact that we had a Vice President. The thinO' 

0 

that I was ab:>ut to say was that I at least was quite impressed 'oy thce 
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quality of the p•2ot:ile Joh'1son brought in'.o ~h2 White House. Bill Moyers 

we all kn:iw and had a high regard for and also George Reedy. I'd 

never h·eard ::>f Jack Valen'.i before. I first met him in the corridors 0£ 

the White Ho'.lse p·erhaps o:i Saturday or Sunday after the assassination. 

His cheeks were stain·2d with tears and he loC>ked as distressed as if 

he'd been a member of the Kennedy staff. We later became good friends. 

I think one had a sense of a very high quality o.' p·eople. 

F: Jack told me one time, I asked him wh'.:l he saw on the trip 'Jack, you 

kno·w, from Dallas, because o:f co'..lrse he was unprepared to come, and 

then they landed down on the White House lawn and wen': right on over 

to the Executive Office 'Juilding, and I asked him who he saw. He said, 

"Jo·e, frankly, this was my first time, and I didn't know butlers frmn 

VIP' s. They all looked alike to me." 

S: I thin'<: that the p·eople that Johnson brocight in with him were first class. 

The oddity was that, whereas the p·eople that Kennedy brcught in were 

still mostly with him three years later, most of Johnson's excellent first 

team v.ras gon·~ in a short \V-hile. 

F: Johnson kept on a lot of Kennedy people, do you think that that sort of 

continuity helped, hindered or played 'lny role at all? 

S: I don't think that it played much of a role at all. Certainly he was 

absolutely justified in asking people to stay for the period of transitio:-i. 

After that h·e h.'td 3. problem of not wishing to give the Kenn2dy wing of 

th2 party the sense that he was cutting the Kenn2dys o:it. That was a 

great argument for keeping O'Donnell and O'Brien. He kept O'Donnell 

and O'Brien, b'it very cleverly played on2 off against the other, so that 
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these two men, who had been very close, were used and manip·ilated 

by Johnso::i, and became en·emies, Sorensen left very quickly, Bundy 

wasn't on the p8litical side. Tha,t was a different thing, from Johnson 1 s 

viewpoint, there is no reaso'1 why people who were so persona.Hy 

involved with Kennedy, as I was or as Sorensen vlas, sho;.ild h:ive been 

kep:. Both C>f us felt very strongly that we should get o'.lt, 

F: Is Dick Goodwin's case of chemistry? 

S· I think that Johnson liked Goodwin very much, and I think that Goodwin 

essen:ially left because a: the Vietnam war. Johnson 1.Jro1ight a lo: of 

pressure to get him to stay. Johnson hates Goodwin n:ow probably, b·.it 

he did do his best to get him to stay. And Goodwin was the best speech 

writer he had. 

F: He' 11 tell you that, 

S: Johns on? 

F: Yes, 

S: Yeah, 

F: That he could write rings arocind anyb'.:>dy. 

S: Yeah. A great idea man and a very en:ertaining man, that's all. 

F: Were you there in the White House long enough after Johnso:i came in 

to get a feeling that the Kennedy hcild:overs did, after they had disuaged 

their first deep grief, that there was going to he a con'.inuatio;~ of the 

Kenn<~dy dreams and that v.;e were going to ·~<:ind of get a n~\V infusio~J. of 

en·ergy. 

S· Well, I think among the Kennedy p·eople there seemed to '.oe, as I told 

Bill Manchester, a difference b-etween the loyalists and ';he realists, 
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Th·e loyalists were those who were there because of their association 

with Kennedy and who had ocher things to do, as I d[d, The realists 

were there who loved Kenn·edy but loved p:>wer, the opp'.:>rtunity to do 

things, more. They un:!ersto'.:>d wh-en Johnson said to 'he Kenn·edy 

p·eo;>le: I need yoct rrore than yo:i needme. He needed them to keep 

the Kennedy wing of the party and 3-lso '.:i·ecause of the skills that they 

h1d. Then chere was a feeling that Johnso:1 was caring for the Kenn·edy 

domestic program and dolng it very effectively. Of course, after h2 

elected nearly 50 ciew congressmen in 1964, he had what n'.:> liberal 

Presidenc had ha.d since 1938: a practical majority in the Ho:ise of 

Repre::entatives. He was therefore able to get the domestic program 

thro,igh. And of co•irse he w;,:s wholeheartedly invo:ved in it. 

F: Do you think that he traded unduly on 'he Kenn·edy tragedy to get the 

program through or do you thin'< hce used it just about as judiciously 

as he c o·ild? 

S: I d:>:1't think he traded on it. It was a factor in 'h·e situation, and I 

never felt th1t he w2.s exploiting it. I thin'<: Jo'.1nson b·ehaved in ch1t 

regard under great difficulties of a p·ersonal and political sort -rith 

grace and dignity. 

F· There wasn't any kind of unseemly shuffling of duties and respo:isibilities 

and f-'.o forth? 

S· Well, I never felt that, because I had so stro:igly the view that he rught 

to '.:>2 his own President. There was some feeling that he moved into the 

Presidential Office with ur,seemly haste, telling Evelyn Lcncoln on 
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9 o'clock S'lturday morning that she had an hour to get out and th3.t 

sort of thing; b·it so far as the White House staff was conc.ern2d, it 

seemed to me tha.t he was right to handle that in a way that would 

serve his first p•1rposes best, I didn't feel that he moved in 'l grace­

less or ro:igh viay to do it. 

F: \.Valter Jenkins, or George Reedy, neither on,~ never str'.lc·k me as 

being particularly pushy types. 

S: No. Walter Jenkins is a very admirable, sensitive man, it seems to 

me and George Reedy, a man of great in:elligence and character. 

Bo:h Reedy and Jenkins knew the Kenn,edy people well, I h'lve to say 

th'lt I've great fondness for Jack Valenti. Of course, Bill Moye rs is 

great. The Kennedy people h'ld n:> problems with any of these people. 

F: Did -­

S: Later, there were problems with people like Jv'.arvin Watson, Th'lt was 
first 

a very different siiuation, b·1t the'\Johnson team seemed (inaudible) 

F: Did you get a feeling from your sort of role now as an intimate outsider, 

because yo•i kno\v all the principals even thru gh you left the White House, 

did the staff work go down after Walter left? 

S: No, as I think Walter, with all his qualities, lacked interest in or com­

mand of issues. Bill Moyers and later Joe Califano, so far as staff 

work meant do::nination of issues, were prot.Jably sup•2rior to Jenkins. 

F: Did you ha.ve a successor per sc? 

S· No, I should take this advan'.age of the opp:ntunity to say that Eric 

Goldman v.tas ne>t my successor in any sense. 
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F: Did yo" recommend Eric? 

S· No.•. 

F: I've always wondered where they go'. him. 

S: They got him quite accidentally. There was a fellow, Princeton 

student, named Richard Nelson, who'd been deeply moved by Eric 

Goldman as a professor at Princeton. I don't know whether he was 

working for the Vice President or wh3.t, b'..lt he urged Johnson .f::ocall 

Goldman, who may have felt out of things in the Kennedy years, saw 

Johnson for a moment as a great populist leader who was outside the 

Eastern establishment. 

F: Still dazzling anyhow to go in the White House. 

S· Yeah, so Eric came in, and he was always a consultant. Moyers and 

Goodwin can tell the story much more in detail, b'.lt they b'.>th found 

him very unsatisfactory. He didn't fit into the way government operated, 

as for better or worse John Roche later did, John Roche really understood 

go--re rnmen'. Eric Goldman was protective of himself, jealo•1s about 

wh;i,t he did and the ideas he w;o;s transmitting. I gather from Moyers 

that he really never saw Johnso,-, very much. 

F: He never joined the team really. 

S: Yeah, and he certainly wasn't bro•1ght tn on policy questions, and later 

became disenchanted. Are you going to interview- him? I supp-:>se that 

his bo8k ma-kes it unnecessary, biit -­

F: I've written him and told him that I wasn't going to make a special 

effort to see him, b•1l if I was ever in Princeton, I would want to talk 

to him. He'd agreed with me that there's not eno·1gh left to justify the 

trip :o see him, b~it if we .::and::> it casually sometime, well, w-e 1 11 
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see where we are. 

S: I might add oae more thing. My last role in connection with the Johnson 

Administration came in the Dominican intervention. I left th·2 White House 

in January, thoJgh I think my resignation, because of accumulated 

annual leave, did n1 t ta.ke effect until March. I was out lecturing, I 

think in Buffalo, New York. After the Dominican :hing b2gan I got a 

call from Bill Moyers asking whether I could come back to Washington 

right away, and I carreback on a FriJay. I wentio the White House 

and :alked to Bill, and to Mac Bundy and to Ray Cline, who was the 

head of the intelligen,:e division Jf the CIA. We'd already, I thin'<:, 

sen'. the Marines in Jn a Thursday. The theory was that p2ople who 

had been associated with the Alliance for Progress should explain to 

Latin America 'W·hat we tho'.lgh~ V·le were doing. I recall Harriman vvent 

to ·Colombia and Venezuela, ani some~J-::>dy· else wen~ somewh·2re else, 

and they wanted me to go to Cen':ral America. Since I didn't kn,:>w what 

the hell was going on and therefore accepted ·:he thesis, I said I would 

go. Then we tried to find, I rememb·er, Oduber, who was then foreign 

minister of Costa Rica~ HaptJily he was a~h-1.Y for a ¥/ee.kend. Anyway 

it was certain that h·e was 

and while it was delayed, 

F: Do you speak Spanish? 

S: No. 

F: Not unless necessary. 

th,e key man to aee, so my trip was delayed, 

I sp·2nt my time reading the cables. 

S: No, b•it I had made several tripa for Kennedy to Latin America. 

F: Ikn:>w. 
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C:: 	 So it was not implausible. But the more I read this stuff, the less sure 

I was of the thesis upon which our action was based. The thesis was 

that a revolution which had begun as an honest democratic revolution 

had been taken over by the Communists; and that the leaders of the ho'1est 

demo.::::rati.c revolution, seeing that the Communists had ta-ken it over, had 

fled to foreign embassies; and that there was a blo'.:>d bath in the streets of 

Santo Domingo, and all this sort of thing. I began checking with Latin 

Amerlcans aro·1nd town, they said that Betancourt, the ex-President of 

Venezuela had arrived in Washingto:-i. So I said Johnson ought to see 

Betancoctrt, and I got Mac Bundy to call the President and say this. 

Johnson was obviously very sharp '.:>Ver the p'.-tone because he didltt want 

to see him. Then I tried to get Bundy and Moyers to see Betancourt, 

neither of them wo•1ld, so I went to see him myself. Betancourt had 

strong reasons to care abo;it what\vas happeningin the Dominican Rep•1blic. 

He'd been nearly killed in assassination attempt by a Trcijillo agent in 19SO. 

And he had very goe>d sources. Venezuela had excellent intelligence sources 

there, so I went to see him. I had lunch with Dick Go'.:>dwin at the Occiden­

tal Restaurant and Dick showed me the draft of the speech that he had 

written for Johnson to give that nigh': embodying the whole thesis. I 

saw Betancourt late that afterne>on. As we talked, he said his informati. n 

was absolutely different. And as he expounded the Venezuelan in'.elligence 

version, it became clear to me that what he was saying explained many 

more things than the CIA thesis. I think another problem was that McCone 

had left the CIA and I think would h'tve been more sob·er in his interpreta­

tion 	of things. A new man, Admiral Raborn, v.tas so anxiotis to pro·ie he 
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was a gungho anti-Communist that he overinterpreted so,ne very 

scrappy evidence. Then we had this hysteric as Am'nssador down 

th,ere, W. Tapley Bennett, As I listened to Betancourt, I suddenly 

perceived that we were operating on a completely wro:ig interpret'ltion 

of the facts. When I left him, I called Goodwin at the White House and 

with great difficulty got thro1igh :o b.im, and said, "We' re absolutely 

wrong." J\nd he said, "The speech has just been p•it on the teleprompter 

and the Presiden: is going o;i in ten rnin'Jtes and th·ere is n'J-~hing ·vie can 

do abo"Jt it now." At that p'.)int I got out of the Dominican thing, and I 

was n,eve r called back to the White Ho·ise again, 

F: Who was pcishing Johnson on this, Raborn or a collection? 

S: Raborn, I think it was Johnson's own '.hing on it, plus Tom Mann. 

You're asking ab,:rnt the break between '.he Kennedy p•eople and Johnson. 

Within the White House staff the changes seemed to me at least and [ 

think to most of the Kennedy p·eople perfectly right. We had no complaint 

ab,:r.:it the new p,eople who were bro·1ght in. The one early conspicious 

break with Kennedy policies came when he brought back Tom Mann, 

making him th,e Assistant Secretary of State and head oo the Alliance 

for Progress. Tom Mann had n,ever b,elieved in the Alliance for Progress 

and he'd never believed in :he Kennedy thesis that the hC>p•e for Latin 

America \\I-as tn progressive demo:::ratic leadership, and parties and 

go-.rernmen:. Tom Mann :hcF.igh: th3.t progressive democrats \x/ere either 

wishy-washy liberals or prcto-Communists and that the hop,e for Latin 

America lay in :he businessman and the armies. That was the first 
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break. We made a kind of rear guard action to stop Johnson from doing 

it in December; that was very unavailing. 

F· Wo•Jld this have been done with the approval of Dean Rusk, over the 

op203ition of Dean Rusk? 

S: Dean Rusk in the first place was n:>t greatly concerned ab::i'.lt Latin America, 

and Pm sure 

F: It's just kind of a void on his map. 

S: Yeah, but I'm sure that he didn't mind Tom Mann. I made an effort to 

get Hubert Humphrey in th·e Senate to do something ab::iut it, but Humphrey 

refused to :oppose Tmn Mann. 

F: Do yo'.l think at this stage that Humphrey was dangling for th·e Vice 

Presidency? 

S· I sup;:•ose it's hard f,,r someone \vho had ambitions for an effective 

relationship w-ith the new President to o;>p::ise his first major ap;>::iintmen'.. 

F: Did yo·J see Johnson when yo•i hft the White Ho'.lse? 

S: Yes, a party was given for me in the White House Mess, to which he 

came. He sen~ me a splendid letter written by Bill Moyers, and ru r 

relations, as I say, w·ere p·2rson1lly, so far as I 'Ar-as concerned, 

entirely affable. 

F: Yoct sup;>orted Bobby Kennedy that summer of '64 in the race for the 

New York Senate seat, did he get any real help from Jo:1nson out of that, 

or do yo·J think that Johnson wan~ed him to win? 

S:? I think tha.t Johnson was anxious to carry New York. It turns OCit that 

he carried New York by a larger margin ch.an Kennedy did, but I think 
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he thought that Kenn2dy wo·ild 02 a strong Senatorial candidate. He came in 

and campaigned very effectively for Kennedy, and :here's certainly no indi­

cation th'lt he wanted Kennedy to lose or anything like that. 

F: Was this his initiative or was it Kennedy's initiative, or did they just sort 

of coalesce? 

S: 	 My impressio'1 ts that they sort of coalesced, and Johnson had to campaign 

in New- York as a Presidential candidate anyv;ray. When he came, it was 

inevitable that they campaign together, 

F: 	 In that late summer of '64 you gave an interview to 1d.·~·-~'."ws and Wo_rJ~ 

B~E.?_!~, in v.i-hich among other things, with undue clairvoyance for a historian 

who's supposed to loo!~ the ocher direction, you warned against Johnson's 

win'1ing with to'.) great a majority and pointed O'it th3.t this led to part of 

Roosevelt's troubles in 1 36. You had anything to add to '.h3.t in hindsight, 

you' requite on ':arget in foresight, but looking back on what hap;i·ened, do 

you? 

S: 	 No, I don't that his troubles came from toC> large a wajority. I think that 

in fact the kind of majority he had made it possible for him to '1ave the 

marvelous legislative achievements in '65 and 1 66. 

F: 	 It pro!:>ably was n•ecess3.ry for that program? 

S: 	 For that program. I think that his tro•ible did no'. come from success 

except in th.e indirect sense that th·e size of his victory rrade him feel that 

he could do what he wished in Indochina. Indochina was the dis3.ster. 

We had that little £13.p abci:it the White House Art Festival, which Mr. 

Goldman got seared o:-i, Did you ever have any opinions on th3.t? I knciw 
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you did surface once wh,en Lowell re fused, and smneb'.ldy else refused 

an invitation to it, on the basis that yo·i don't refuse a White House 

invitation- ­

S: Well, I'm trying to remember. Someone called me up from the White 

House - ­ it was prob1bly Bill Moyers, and asked me to call Lowell and 

get him to reconsider, So I said I wasn't going to argue with Lowell abo•it 

it, but I would call him and talk to him about it, since Lowell and I were 

old friends. And I did, and he explained his positio;i, I said I wasn't con­

fident en:mgh of what was right and what was wrong in this to bring any 

pressure on t1im. And I v.rasn 't invited to th2 thing myself, so, beyond 

calling Lo,well because 2ith2r Valenti or Moyers or someone as-ked me to, 

I had nothing on my own. 

F: In your book, ~]'J10us.an_?_ _l)_a_y_s, you of c'o urse raised your own little storm 

in the political circles over Kennedy-Rusk relations. Now then, yo'J 1 ve 

got the fact that Johnso;i ''eeps Rusk on for the whole 0£ his five years, but 

do you think - ­ I don't want to go back into '.he Kennedy part because it 

seems to me yo:.i' ve done that guite well - ­ do yoci think that the re's any 

sort o~ a problem there that carries over in Rusk's relationship v.rith the 

new- Pres id en~? 

S: I thine' that Johnson and Rusk focind a great deal in common. They were 

both Southerners. They were both rath,er liberal coc-npared to i'TIOst Southerners 

o:o d'.l111estic questions. They both felt persecuted, Rusk with much more 

justice than Johnson, by the Kennedf White House, They b'.:>~h felt o·it 0£ 

sympathy with <:h,e Kennedy foreign policy. 

F: Just basic out of sympathy or because 0£ a difference in viewp'.lint or simply 

a cas~ they didn't feel that they cut enough of a swad. 
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S: No, I think basically octt of sympathy, a difference in viewpoint. I think 

that both Johnso.o and Rusk had their views formed in a period 1946 - 1954. 

They were children of the cold war. They did not recognize the extent to which 

the situation was changing as a result of the fragmentation oi the Communist 

emptre. They were unwilling, for example, to 3Uppose that the split between 

Russia and China was very fundamental. They assumed that what was going 

on in Hanoi \Vas part:: of some centralized Chinese Communist plan e>f aggres­

sion, and they Viere view-1ng ever/thing in terms of 1950. This was no: the 

view in ':he Kennedy White House. It certainly was not Kennedy's view, or 

Bund/! s view. Therefore Rusk became alrnos: co:rnpletely unco:._nmunicative 

in the Kennedy White Ho•ise. He never expressed his views because I think 

he felt that it was justo'-lt of phase with what the White Ho•1se believed. When 

Johns oil came in, yo:i had a. dlfferen': situation. Instead of a Presid·2n':: v,;ith 

co:ifidence in his own judgments in the in'.ernational situation, you had a 

President who was relatively inexperienced. He was a man of great subtlety 

in his judgments and percep':ions 0£ domestic affairs. But he saw foreign 

affairs in an exceedingly simple-minded way. His simple-mindedness was 

reinforced by Rusk and given co3mic and historical justification by f\03tow. 

So, I think Rusk was both p·ersonally and temperamentally happier with 

Johnson than he was with Kennedy, Ideologically their views were much 

closer. 

F: 	 Hubert Humphrey strnck O'Jt at yo•.1 for what you said 3.bout Rusk and 


Kennedy. Did that cause any little split b·etween the two of you or was 


this 	just a reaction of the moinen':? Do 10 1.J. even remember? 

 
LBJ Presidential Library 
http://www.lbjlibrary.org

ORAL HISTORY TRANSCRIPT 
Lyndon B. Johnson Library Oral Histories [NAID 24617781]

 
More on LBJ Library oral histories: 

http://discoverlbj.org/exhibits/show/loh/oh

25



26 


S: Was Humphrey Vice President then? 

F: Yeah. 

S: I suppose he h1d no particular choice in it. No, my split with Humphrey 

came a co'iple of yea rs later in 196 7 when I spent the evening with him 

discussing the war in Viet Nam. And l though~ he was so awful then, that 

our relationship decayed rapidly after that. 

F: Did you get the feeling that Humphrey went to greater lengths to ingratiate 

himself with the President than Johnson did as Vice President to ingratiate 

himself with his President? Basically, is there any difference in 1he Vice 

Presidency? 

S: Yes, there was, but it was a difference essentially in the temperamen'.:s of 

the four principals. In other words, it n·ever would have occurred to Kennedy 

to ma·ke the demands on Johnson th:i.t Johnson made on Humphrey. Arthur 

Goldberg once said to me that one of the great differences betwer,n Kennedy 

and Johnson was that Kennedy was perfectly prepared to make a decision 

in spite of the fact that there was disagreement in the advice that he received. 

Goldberg - this was sometime p·erhaps in 1 66 or' 67 - had some idea abo'.lt 

Viet Nam which he discussed with McNamara, and Ge ;.rge Ball and others 

in advance of Name which he discussed with McNamara and G•:orge Ball 

and others in advance of a National Security Co'.lncil meeting and got them 

to agree to support it. Then McNamara had a CD!wersation with the President, 

and Johnson was unalterably opposed to what Goldberg, with the support of 

McNamara an:! Ball, had wanted to do. So McNamara came to Goldberg and 

said, 11 Arthur, don't bring this up. 11 He said, 11 The President isn1 t going to 
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and 	it makes him so ctnhappy io: to have a sense of united support that I 

urge you noc to ':iring it up." Goldberg says he bro'ight it up anyway. 

There was a conspiciocts difference -- that Johnson appeared to need the 

sense that everyone agreed that he was doing the right thing. Kennedy 

didn't have this need, He believed the people might have differen' views. 

He was going to hear the best arguments. If some didn't agree, that was all 

right; he'd go ahead and do what he thought best. Kennedy did not bring 

his 	Vice Pn:sident emotional pressure for agreement, so he \X.ras perfectly 

willing to have his Vice President disagree, Johnson brought that pressure 

on Humphrey, Johnson in many respects, with all his brilliant qualities, 

which I'm the '.'irst to concede, is a bully. He likes leaning on people, and 

Humphrey is a very wea·k tTlan. He 1 s a very intelligent rran, has great mas­

tc,ry of a lot of issues, but he's a man who can't say no. He likes to please 

whatever the audience is. And when the audience was the President of the 

United States and he was Vice President, his desire to please became 

greater than ever, so that Johnson insisted on a degree of subservience from 

Humphrey which Kennedy would never have insisted on. And Humphrey 

beh:ived to-ward Johnson with a degree of servility which Johnson v.ro'.lld never 

have 	given him when he was Vice President, So I think it's really a difference 

in the tv.ro equations. 

F: 	 Do you think that Johnson in a sense was mesmerized by Bob McNamara, and 

by Walt Rostow, or do you think that it just happened that in that one period 

h their lives that thei: views coincide with his? 

S: 	 I don't think that Johnson was mesmerized by anybody. As a generalization, 

I think the prhcipal influences the advis :rs far more thorn the advisors 

influence the principal. That's why the principal is the principal and the 
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advisers only advisers. Johnson is a man of very powerful quality. 

O~)viously, he wasn't hypnotized by McNamara because McNamara turned 

against the war essentially by the winter of' 65-' 66 when he p2rsuaded 

Johnson against Johnson's will to have th2 bombing pause. Johnson never 

forgave McNamara when the bombing pause didn't produce the results that 

were hoped for. As the Pentagon Papers made clear, J\/cNarnara had 

really given up on the military solutio:i by then. But Johnson did not give 

up on the military solution. Lyndon Johnson is a b,~lly. Through all his 

life he has discovered that, if you leaned on people hard enoagh, you 

pounded them hard eno'igh, their breaking p::>int eventually came and they 

would do what you wanted them to do. This may have been 'rue from 

time to time in his personal relations, but he transferred this notion to 

international relations and assumed there must be a breaking point therefore: 

just po,ind the bastards long enough. He was incap:.ble of doing the kind of 

thing that Kennedy did so effectively, which was to ask himself, "Suppose 

you were a North Vietnamese, how would you feel? Wo'..lld bombing make 

you make you fall on yocir knees and cry 'uncle' or woCJ.ld it make you feel 

more absolutely determined to see the thing through? 11 Johnso:-i couldn 1 t 

do th'tt sort of thing. He was an intelligent man; he wasn't going to do it tn 

an extravagant way and bring Russia and China. into the w·ar and all th:i.t sort 

of thin,Q'. But he just couldn't rid himself of the noeion '.hat we were the most 

powerful country in the world, and, if you pounded them long enough, the 

breaking point would come. Rostow had no influence on him except to 

reassure him and explain '.o him how th'tt Lincoln was criticized too and 

that he was reenacting some great historical ordeal. Rostow w·as a mirror 
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of Johnson. He had no extra influence on Jo'1nson. Rusk, I':think, did, 

because Rusk was a man of great, though highly blinkered, intelligence 

and very ratlon3.l and concise in his presentation of things. I think that he 

and Johnson reinforc•cd each other. 

F: I never saw him in action but evidently he did 3. good job when he'd lead out. 

S: Absolutely, a great briefer of Presidents. Then Clifford and Fortas 

also counted heavily. Both Clifford and Fortas oppe>sed McNamara during 

the bombing pause of '65-'66. He used to say afterwards how wrong 

McNamara had been and how right Abe and Clark had been. Then, of 

course,when Clifford came in and took a hard look at things, he changed. 

F: This is hypathetical but it leads up to something that I was going to ask 

yoa, and was then McNamara went finally and -­

S· McNamara was fired. 

F: Yeah. 

S: He did not know. I mean he had spoken vaguely abocit the World Bank, but 

he suddedy learned that Johnson had sent his name and was about to send 

his name over to the World Bank. 

F· Witho;it any prior consultation? 

S: Without any prior immediate consultation, I think they had spaken about it 

in a general way some time before. 

F: It didn't have the effect of clearing the air so th3.t Clark Clifford could 

come in and even reverse himself, because he v./asn 1 t shewered on previous 

statemenLs. 

S: Clifford, in '.he first place, was not an ideologist. Rusk was. Clifford is 

a very able pra,gmatic man v.rho makes his decisio'.1s on the merits. 

In the second place -­ and this, I think, goes to all who say that anyone 
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who disagreed with the Viet ]\'am policy should have resigned -­ the great 

thing that made Clifford reversible was the fact that rrost of the civilians 

in the Pentagon who turned against the war had _12=?_1:_ resigned. When a new 

secretary came in, they felt he was their last hope. Nitze and Hoopes and 

the rest were still around ar>d could present their case to Clifford. If all 

these people had resigned, it wocild have been much more difficult for 

Clifford to ch3.nge the policy. 

F: Does Johnso'1 lean more heavily on his advisers than Kennedy did? 

S: On foreign 3.ffairs very co,-,spiciously, yes. I think Johnson had no particular 

confidence in his judgment in foreign 3.ffairs. 

F: Did he have a pro':ilem of peo,1le getting infurmation to him? 

S: Of getting wh3.t? 

F: Getting information to him. In other"° rds, do they tend to feed him what 

they think he wants to hear rather than what is? 

S· Well, I've been told -­ I don't knciw it at first-hand that there was a 

marked difference between Bundy and Rostow. Bundy made more of an 

effort to :ry to get both views presented. Intelligent peo"1le in ~he State 

Department have told me th3.t Walt would funnel rn '.he stuff which sustained 

his own thesis. There was the further problem th3.t Jo'.-inson' s overwhelming 

pressure for results led to systematic falsification all down the ch3.in of com­

mand, ev'~1~yoac~ trying to ?lease the Pr,23:.J:~n' by giving false impressions 

on the su·::cess of bJmbing or pacification :::>r whatever. 

F: Do you think he knew he was being fed th3.t? 

S· I fear he didn't. In docnestic affairs he would have known right away, but he 

had no independent instinct for foreign affairs. 
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F: To go back, are you ,Jrivileged to any particular information on Johnson 

ruling out Bobby Kennedy as Vice Presidential candidate in 1964? 

S: No, except it seems to me mad that Robert Kennedy sho,Jld ever have 

wished to be Vice President. 

F· You never heard anything out of Bobby on that? Everything I'm picking up 

on BoCiby along the way has to be second hand. What abo•it BoCiby' s resigna­

tion as Attorney General, anything particular on that, other than you think he 

just ~-ants to get himself another for0.1n? 

S· Actually, as Attorney General after Dallas, he did not see Johnson very 

often. He had no great wish to continue in the Administration, feeling that 

the kind of things he cared about he could pursue more effectively elsewhere. 

F: Was Bobby's decision to ran again Johnson in '68 pretty much a matter of 

the war? 

S: I think it was completely a matter of the war. In fact, he woald have gotten 

out if Johnson had changed on that war. You remember that rather odd 

proposal, originally Dick Daley's proposal, to have a council of elders? 

This would have provided a facade for a change in policy. Ken"!edy would 

have gotten out hctd there been a change in the war policy. One of the 

grounds for his hesitation was the feeling that p·e ople would suppose the 

real reason was not the war, but a personal feud or a sense that the 

Kennedys had a proprietary right to the White House. He was always 

haunted by the feeling that the vote rs would interpret his opposition to 

Johnson in personal terms. This made him hesitate so long before going 

in at all. He would not have gone in if it had not been for the war. 

 
LBJ Presidential Library 
http://www.lbjlibrary.org

ORAL HISTORY TRANSCRIPT 
Lyndon B. Johnson Library Oral Histories [NAID 24617781]

 
More on LBJ Library oral histories: 

http://discoverlbj.org/exhibits/show/loh/oh

31



32 

F: He had no clear idea that Johnson was going to make th:i.t March 31, 1968 

speech? 

S: No, I was with him that night. 

F: We re you watching? 

S: No, he was on an airplane. 

F: Where did he get the word? When he landed? 

S: He got the word when he landed in New York. I was supposed to meet him 

at his apc,rtment that night. He couldn't have been more astonished. 

F: What was his reaction? 

S: He had to reconsider his whole strategy because he had been running 

against Johnson. With Johnson out, with a possible alteration of Viet Nam 

policy ahead, it wasn't so clear what his own issues would be. 

F: Had 'e decided to take on Johnson previously on both the domestic and the 

Viet Nam front or was he going to concentrate pretty much on the war? 

S: Both. But the war was the primary issue, and the issue wi',:hout which he 

would not have done it. 

F: I would presume he thought he could take him. 

S· Yes, he did. But the other issue was the whole domestic thing. He was 

very much disappointtf'tl,for exar,.-1ple, in Johnson's reaction to 6he Kerner 

Report. He felt that the cities, that civil rights, poverty, the minorities 

had been neglected as a consequence of Johnson's obsession withthe war. 

But, of co11rse, all that was derivative from the war. 

F: Did he think he was using Gene McCarthy as a stalking horse? Or was 

Gene just one of those factors that wandered in? 

S: No, Kennedy and McCarthy were not friends. McCarthy was almost urging 
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Kennedy to go in before l\' cCarthy went rn. But for various reasons he 

didn't. 

F: 	 To what extent was Johnson's Viet Nam policy a con'.inuity with what you'd 

had with Kennedy and Eisenhower? That's always of course raised in 

apologies and charges and so forth, that they planted the seed back here, 

that Kennedy moved it up a step, and Johnson came along and took the big 

step. 

S: 	 You can argue that, and you can argue -- back to Truman - that Truman 

by supporting the French war began the process of defining non-Communist 

Soath Viet'am as of vital interest to the United States, and everyone was 

imprisoned by it, But Presidents can refuse escalation. Truman refused 

escalation in the Bay of Pigs. He was under great pressure when the 

thing failed to save the prestige of the United States by sending in the Marines. 

He refused escalation in the Cuban missile crisis when Acheson and the 

Joint Chiefs and Johnson, though he wasn't so vocal abo'Jt it, felt he 

should take the missiles oat by surprise attac';,. The capacity to refuse 

escalation is necessary to cut your losses -- is an absolutely essential 

thing. Th,e Americanization of the war took place in February and }larch 

of 1965. I do not think that the Johnson policy was made in-evitable by any­

thing that Truman, Eisenhower, and Kennedy did. But I certainly wouldn't 

regard the Kennedy Viet Nam policy as the finest hour in the Kennedy 

Administration. 

F: 	 The greatest thing he ever did? Did you ever have the opportunity to 

o:iserve Johnso:i. vis-a-vis J. Edgar Hoover? 
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Except that one heard that Johnson, like many Presidents, liked Hoover 

coming over and telling scandal; he liked reading FBI reports. But I know 

nothing about it directly. 

F· They are worthwhile. Do you think it's imp'.:lss ible to be a consensus 

President? 

S: I think consensus was a P'ctblic relations tactic and not a serious thing. 

I don't think any past President could possibly be a consensus President. 

You can be a majority President, but that is a different matter. Johnson 

emo'.:ionally didn't like anyone bein,e; against him. Most Presidents assume 

that somebody's probably going to be against them. I think that Johnson, 

for whatever reasons, just could not bear people being opposed to his 

policies. Roosevelt and Kennedy were different. Any policy which 

could get 100 percent of the people must be so diluted a policy that I don't 

think a consensus presidency means very much. 

F: Did Kennedy himself ever seriously consider retiring J. Edgar, I started 

to say "prematurely," and I guess that is a good word. 

S· Kennedy, I think, was rather fatalistic about Hoover. He felt that the 

political outcry wasn't worth it in his first term. If he'd run against 

Goldwater in 1964 and won by a large margin, I think things would have 

been very different. Robert Kennedy was determined to retire J. Edgar 

Ho0ver. 

F: Do you have any light to shed on why Arthur Goldberg left the Supreme 

Gou.rt? 

S: I don't. What I know about it, I would agree with what Galbraith said the 

other day. I am sure that Arthur Goldberg regards this as the greatest 

mistake of his life. 
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F: I believe it is too. Did yo'.l, with your close association with Adlai 

Stevenson, get the feeling that Stevenson chafed as U. N. Ambassador 

uncle r Johns on? 

S: When Kennedy was !:illed, and Johnson came in, Stevenson tho'.lght that at 

last he, Stevenson, was coming into his own. And Johnson called him in 

and - ­

F: Yo'.1 mean he'd have more latitude. 

S: Yes, and Johnson called him in -­ because Stevenson came to my office 

and told me abo'Jt this directly afterwards in a state of great elation, 

and Johnson said to him, 11 Pm sittinq; in this chair, but you ought to be 

sitting in this chair instead of me." and a lot of stuff like that. And all 

U. N. Ambassadors - ­

F: He never told me that. 

S: What? 

F: I said, "Johnson never told me that." 

S: All U. N. Ambassadors feel :rustrated. Stevenson felt frustrated, and he 

felt that he wo'Jld have - ­ I mean he always had 3-ccess to Kenriedy - ­ but he 

felt that he would have influence on Johnson of a more considerable sort. 

F: Could the man sit down and talk? Or was it a case of one talking and the 

other one listening? 

S: I just don't kn:>w. I never saw them together. I've seen Johnson say 

very mean things in fr_e past abo,it Stevenson and give rather savage 

mimicries of him, but it \Vas very important to Johnson to get the Stevenson 

people on board. And I think that he may again have felt that Stevenson, 
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like Rusk, because they'd been frustrated in the Kennedy years, might be 

allies. But Stevenson very soon discovered that his frustrations were 

institutional rather than perso n,d. Then he was very unhappy abo'Jt the 

Do:;.ninican intervention. The last time I saw him, which vvas a fevv- vv-eeks 

before he died, he said to me that up to this pocnt he had supposed we 

were doing the right thing in Viet Nam. But when he saw the way decisio:1s 

were made in the Dominican Repciblic, this led him to reconsider the whole 

Viet Nam policy. He was much less certain that we were doing the right 

thing in Viet Nam. 

F: 	 After Johnson went out, a poll was taken of two leading historians, 0£ 

vv-hom you \.11rere one, sort of doing an 3.ssay 0£ Johnson, and he came out 

as a strong President. Were the questions loaded, or do you think this 

represented a fairly sincere feeling on fue part 0£ the historians? 

S: 	 It was a Ne"'.~':"_eek poll, I think. I really don't rememb·er it in great 

detail. My general feeling is that Jo:1nson was very good in domestic policy 

and rather poor in foreign policy. The great irony is that he s2.crificed 

what he was good at on the altar 0£ what he was poor at. 
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